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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY
CAMDEN VICINAGE

LORILLARD TOBACCO COMPANY

Haintiff, . Civil No. 11-1420 (RBKAMD)
V. - OPINION
TROPICAL GROCERY STORE,
ABUL KALAM AZAD |
KHALEDA YESMIN,

Defendants.

KUGLER, United States District Judge:

This matter comes before the Court upon a Motion fmni@aryJudgment by orillard
Tobacco Company (“Plaintiff’pn Count | of its Amended Verifiecdomplaint against Tropical
Grocery Store (“Tropical”) and Abul Kalam Azad (“Azad®ollectively, “Defendants”).
Plaintiff allegesthat Defendants are liable for selling countenfetsions of Plaintiff goroducts
in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1)(a). Defendants have not filed opposition to Plaintiff's
motion.

For the reasons expressed below, the Courpwalht Plaintiff's motion

BACKGROUND
This lawsuit comes before the Court as a result oD#fendantsalleged sale of
counterfeit cigaretiebearing Plaintifs registered marksPI. Br. in Supp. of Summ. J., 1.

Plaintiff owns the Newport® and Lorillard® trademarks, which are assatigiththe leading
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brand of menthol cigarettes and the secleadling cigarette brand United Statesverall. Id.

at 2. Plaintiff has owned the trademarks and associated trade @hesk areregistered with the
United States Patent and Trademark Offspece 1956.1d. Eight of Plaintiff's marks are at
issue in this caseld.

Azad owns Tropicak retail grocery store in Atlantic City, New Jersdg. at 3. On
March 8, 2011, onef Plaintiffs employee®ntered Tropical and discovered what he believed to
be three stale packs of Newport® cigarettiels. The employee replacete stale productsith
fresh packsndsentthe stale pack® Plantiff's offices for furtherinspection._Id.

An expert in identifying counterfeit produetmployed by Plaintiffexamined the packs
anddeterminedhemto be counterfeit O’'Brien Dec., 12. The experfirst discovered that the
tear tape used to remove the cellophane wrapping from cigarette packagingrevaastaoon
the packgemoved from Tropicahanon the authentic productd. at 2. Secondly, he noted that
the printing on theide panels of the replaced pagkeremuch clearer than that of Plaintiff's
products.Id. Lastly, theexpertnoticed that the replaced packs contained out-of-date product
codeswhich are no longer usday Plaintiff. |d. The combination of these observationsHed
to determinethat the packs removed from Tropical were counterfdit.Plaintiff received a
court order authorizing a seizure at the store, condilbgtetembers of the U.S. Marshal Service
on March 22, 2011. PI. Br. in Supp. of Summ. J., 8.alNditional counterfeit cigarettes were
found at that timeld.

Plaintiff claimsthat Defendants are strictly liable for selling the counterfeit cigarettes
under Section 1114(1)(a) of the Lanham Adtich forbids the sale of products bearing
counterfeited versions of another person’s registered marks. PI. Br. in Supp. of Sum&. J

Defendantsubmitted no opposition, but in their answer congeitidatthey are not capable of



distinguishing between counterfeit and authentic cigarettes. Def. Resp. tod?fidAGompl., 1.
Defendants claim further that they discontinued sale of the counterfeit prociaciraas they
became aware of the issue and thatr suppliers are responsible for the counterfeit products

reaching their storeld.

. LEGAL STANDARD
Summary judgment is appropriate where the Court is satisfied that “there isuoegen
issue as to any material fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a mattér Béthw

R. Civ. P. 56(c); Celotex Corp. v. Catret?7 U.S. 317, 330 (1986). A genuine issue of material

fact exists only if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could find foorh@oving party.

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). When the Court weighs the evidence

presented by the parties, “[t]he evidence of themowant is to be believed, and all justifiable
inferences are to be drawn in his favold. at 255.
The burden of establishing the nonexistence of a “genuine issue” is on the partg movin

for summary judgment. Aman v. Cort Furniture Rental Corp., 85 F.3d 1074, 1080 (3d Cir.

1996). The moving party may satisfy its burden either by “produc[ing] evidencenghth&
absence of a genuine issue of material fact” or by ‘showiaghat is, pointing out to theistrict
court — that there is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party’ SQeleeek
477 U.S. at 325.

Once the moving party satisfies this initial burden, the nonmoving party must “set out
specific facts showing a genuine issue for trial.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e). To ¢he smrtmoving
party must “do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubteastehal

facts.” Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co#5 U.S. 574, 586 (1986). Rather, to




survive summary judgment, the nonmoving party must “make a showing sufficientltiisasta

the existence of [every] element esserbahat party’s case, and on which that party will bear
the burden of proof at trial.Celotex 477 U.S. at 322. Furthermore, “[w]hen opposing

summary judgment, the nonmovant may not rest upon mere allegations, but rather mifgt ‘ident
those facts ofacord which would contradict the facts identified by the movant.” Corliss v.

Varner, 247 F.App'x 353, 354 (3dCir. 2007) (quoting Port Auth. of N.Y. and N.J. v. Affiliated

FM Ins. Co., 311 F.3d 226, 233 (3d Cir. 2002)).

In deciding the merits of a pgi$ motion for summary judgment, the court’s role is not
to evaluate the evidence and decide the truth of the matter, but to determine vilee¢hisra
genuine issue for trial. _Anderson, 477 U.S. at 249. Credibility determinations areviree

of the factfinder, not the district court. BMW, Inc. v. BMW of N. Am., Inc., 974 F.2d 1358,

1363 (3d Cir. 1992).

1. DISCUSSION

Plaintiff asserts that summary judgment should be granted because tiegeiine
issue of material fact as to Defendants’ sale of the counterfeit cigarettes. dyfbagenot
responded to Plaintiff's Motion fordBnmaryJudgment butlaim in their answer to Plaintiff's
Complaint that the companies responsible for supplying the cigarettes tolBetfgrather than
the Defendants themselvetiould bear responsibility.

Plaintiff's Amended ©mplaintallegesa violation of Section 1114(1)(a) of the Lanham
Act, which creates civil liability for any person who

use[s] in commerce any reproduction, counterfeit, copy or @oleimitation of a

registered mark in connection with the sale, offering for sale, distribution, ottiaohger

of any goods or services on or in connection with which such use is likely to cause
confusion, or to cause mistake, or to deceive.



15 U.S.C. § 1114(1)(a).

In the Third Circuit, trademark infringement is established when a plaintiies that:
(1) the mark or marks are valihdlegally protectablg(2) the marks are owned by Plaintiff, and
(3) thedefendants useof marks to identify goods or services is likely to create confusion

concerning the origin of goods or services. A & H Sportswear, Inc. v. Vidd@ecret Stores,

Inc., 237 F.3d 198, 211 (3d Cir. 200 laintiff argues that its trademarks are valid and that
consumers will be confused by Defendant’s use of Plaintiff's trademarks.

Thefirst prong, validity andegal protectablityas well agthe second prong, ownership,
can be established by demonstrating federal registratiarmarkand usef the markby the

Plaintiff for the requisitgeriod oftime. Ford Motor Co. v. Summit Motor Prods., Inc., 930 F.2d

277, 291 (3d Cir. 1991)A movant establishes that a mark is validilegaly protectabé when

the markin dispute has become incontestable under 15 U.S.C. § 1065. Ford Motor, 930 F.2d at
291. Ownership is also established by a showing of incontestalbiityA mark becomes
incontestable if it is registered on thenciple Register and has been used continuously for five
years. 15 U.S.C. § 1065.

Whena mark meets these requiremetite statute provides nine defensdsch a
defendant may assert to refieontestability. These include fraud in obtaining the registration
or incontestabilityabandonment of the mark by tlegjistrantor use of the markvith the
permission of the registrasb as to misrepresent the source of the goaaeghich the mark is
used. 15 U.S.C. § 1115(blpefendants haveot forwarded any of tisedefensesnd, as a
result, this Court will not consider them.

Plaintiff's maiks are registered on tiReincipal Register and Defendant has not

challenged the validity or legal status of Plaintiff’'s marks. Plaintiff's mhek&alsobeen used



continuously for over five years and thus have obtained incontestable status. Otisdnangir

recognized Plaintiff’'s marks to be valid and protectable tradem&uds, e.g.L.orillard Tobacco

Co. v. Jamelis Grocery, 378 F. Supp. 2d 448 (S.D.N.Y. 2005); Lorillard Tobacco Co.v. S &M

Cent. Serv. Corp., 2004 WL 2534378 (N.D. Ill. 2004). Accordintig,marksare valid legally

protectableand owned by Plaintiffsatisfying thdirst and secongrongs of the test for
trademark infringement.
In addition to proving validity, protectability and ownershifgiitiff must also establish
that he use of marks by Defendants is likely to cause consumer confdsidelinood of
confusion exists “when the consumers viewing the mark would probably assume thatitha pr
or service it represents is associated with the source of a different ppodectice identified by
a similar mark.”1d. Marks “are confusingly similar if ordinary consumers would likely
conclude that [the two products] share a common source, affiliation, connection or sponsorship.”

Fisons Horticulture v. Vigoro Indus., 30 F.3d 466, 477 (3d. Cir. 1994& Third Circuit apples

a tenfactor testo determire if the use of a mark will cause consumers to assume the product

comes from a different source bearing similar magkselnterpace Corp. \.app, Inc, 721

F.2d 460, 463 (3d Cir. 1983).h& factorshould be used both casesf competing goods and

noncompeting goodsA & H Sportswear237 F.3dat212-13.

In orderto determinewhether a likelihood of consumer confusion exists, the Gaillrt
consider(1) the degree of similarity between the owner's mark and the allegedjiimrimark;
(2) the strength of the owner's mark; (3) the price of the goods and other flagtcative of the
care and attention expected of consumers when making a purchdbe;léhgth of time the
defendant has used the mark without evidence of actual confusion arising; (5) the ititent of

defendant in adopting the mark; (6) the evidence of actual confusion; (7) whetheodse g



though not competing, are marketed throtlghsame channels of trade and advertised through
the same media; (8) the extent to which the targets of the parties’ sales efftressameand

(9) the relationship of the goods in the minds of consumers because of the similiugty of
product’'sfunction. Lapp, 721 F.2d at 463. The Counvtll also consider angther facts
suggesting that the consuming public might expect the prior owner to manufactodeiet jon

the defendant's market, or that he is likely to expand into that madkeEach factor must be
weigheal and balanced one against the other and none is determinative of the likelihood of

confusion._Checkpoint Sys., Inc. v. Check Point Software Techs., Inc., 269 F. 3d 270, 286 (3d

Cir. 2001). However, “the court often need not agalgh and every factérA & H
Sportswegr237 F.3d at 216.

Similarity between the marks in question is the single most important factor in
determining the likelihood of confusiond. The proper test to be conducted in deciding the
degree of similarity is not a sid®/-side comparison butwhether the labels create the same
overall impression when viewed separatellisons 30 F.3d at 477. The “appearance, sound

and meaning of the marks” should be consideredaranalysis Checkpoint Sys., In@69 F.3d

at281. When products are directly competing and the marks are very similar,c gidge has
discretion to consider the similarity of the marks alolae.at 214.

The marks used on the products sold by Defendests identicato the marks owned by
Plaintiff. “There is a great likelihood of confusion when an infringer uses the exact trademark.”

S & R Corp. v. Jiffy Lube Int'l., Inc., 968 F.2d 371, 375 (3d Cir. 1992). When viewed

separatelythe marks used on the packaging of the counterfeit products and Plaintifftenet)is
marks are indistinguishable. O’Brien Dec., Ex. A, Lindsley Dec., Ex. 2. The ordiaasymer

would believe that the products sold by Defendamse manufactured by PlaintifSg, the first



factor weghs in favor of Plaintiff. In fact, given that the products are identical and thus clearly
competing products, this Court could resolve this dispute based solely on this factor. The Cour
will, nonetheless, consider the remaining factors.

TheCourt next turns to the strength of the mark to determine the likelihood of consumer
confusion. In analyzing this factor th€ourt considergl) “the inherent features afiark
contributing to its distinctiveness or conceptual strengtit’ (2)*the factual evidence of the

mark's commercial strength or of marketplace recognition of the m&abinsa Corp. v.

Creative Compounds, LLC, 609 F.3d 175, 184-85 (3d Cir. 20Is factoris employed by
courtsto determine the relative strength of different marks and the resulting impact on
consumers.ld. Under the Lanham Act, greater protection is provided to stronger ma&dd
Sportswegr237 F.3d at 222Since he marks used by Defendant were identical to Plaintiff's
marks the Court cannot find that this factor weighs in favor of either party.

Consumer sophistication, the third factoevaluatedoy looking at the type of product

bearing the mark and the type of bugarchasing th@roduct. Checkpoint Sys.269 F.3d at

284. ‘“Where theelevant products are expensive, or the buyer class consists of sophisticated or
professional purchasers, courts have generally not found Lanham Act violdtemasise these
purchasers are sophisticated enough to not be confused by similar idarkewever,there is
no heightened standard of care for buyers when the consumer class for the p@duct is
combination of professionals and ordinary consumkgrsat 285.

Cigarettes are a relatively inexpensive product hecktare no “sophisticated or
professional purchasers” in thiass of cigarette consumeiGonsumers of cigarettel® not
include professionals with specialized training as to the characteristigmeettes and cigarette

packaging.Unlike computersecurity software, consumers of cigarettes do not “take great care



in purchasing” the product. Checkpoint Sys., 269 F.3d at 285. Rather, litietsy

supplements in Sabinseaigarettes are advertised widely to a broad range of consumers and can
be obtained ds quickly] as a trip to the cheetut countef. Sabinsap09 F.3dat 186-87.As a

result, buyers of cigarettes should not be held to a higher standard of care and shHwaud not
been expectetb discern the differences between Plaintiff's products and thoséold
Defendants. Thereforthe thirdLappfactor weighs in Plaintiff's favor.

Additionally, the Court considers evidence of actual confusion and the length of time the
mark was used without such confusion. The Third Circuit has combined the fourth and sixth
Lappfactorsand considered them as orfgeeid. at 187. While proof of actual confusion is not
necessary, evidence of actual confusion is highly probative as to a likelihood oi@onfusd

Motor Co., 930 F.2d at 292; Checkpoint Sys., 269 F.3d at 291. Plaintiff haBeret evidence

of actual confusion. Consequentlyese factorglo not weigh in favor of Plaintiff.
Next, the @urt must look to Defendantsitent in using Plaintiff's marksEvidence of a

defendant's intent i1sot a prerequisite for finding a Lanham Act violatioBheckpoint Sys., 269

F.3d at 286. However, ourts must look at whether the defendant adopted the mark to

intentionally confuse consumers. Sabinsa, 609 & 3@&7. Here, Defendants claihatthey

did not know that the cigarettes were counterfeit and sold the products bearingfBlaiatiks
innocently. Defendants’ claim essentially amounts to a denial of inteseRlaintiff's marks
and does not weigh in favor of Plaintiff.

The Court then considers the extent to which the parties’ goods are marketed through the
same channels of trad@here is a greater likelihood of confusion when the parties’ advertising

and marketing campaigns are simil&@heckpoint Sys269 F.3dat 28. The Courtnust

examine trade exhibitions, publications and other media used by the parties teadveirt



products in examining this factotd. “This is a fact intensive inquiry.1d. at 28. The record
does not reveal any evidence that Defendant engaged in advertising to promote the product
bearingPlaintiff’'s marks. Moreover, it is unlikely an independently-owned groderg svould
have the resources to advertise in a manner comparableadirgnational cigarette
manufacturer. As a result, this facdoes not weigh in Plaintiff's favor.

The Court will also consider the extent to which the parties target the same fjroup o
consumers.[W]hen parties target their sales efforts to the same consumers, there rgyerstro

likelihood of confusion.” Checkpoint Sys., 269 F.3d at 28fhile Defendants made the

counterfeit products available for purchase, there is no evidence that they engagltin “s
efforts”, i.e., advertisement, that would be required in order for the Court to compdezdbts

of the parties efforts. Seeid.; Sabinsa, 609 F.3d at 188-89; PB Brands, LLC v. Patel Shah

Indian Grocery331. Fed. App’x 975, 983 (3d Cir. 2009); 80R-Cigar, Incv. GoTo.com, Inc.,

437 F. Supp. 2d 273, 298 (D.N.J. 2006). Without a basisomparison, té eighh factor
cannot weigh in favor agither party

Finally, theCourt will examine the relationship of the goods in the minds of consumers
as to the product’s function. When looking asflactor, courts should look at “how similar, or

closely related, the products are&kbs Pharm. v. Andrx Corp., 369 F.3d 700, 723 (3d Cir. 2004).

The more closely related the products are, the greater the likelihood thamenasvill be
confused.Lapp, 721 F.2d at 462. Given that the products iesfjon are identical, it is clear
that this factomweighsin Plaintiff's favor.

In sum, the_Lappfactors considered weigh favor of Plaintiff. The products sold by
Defendant are identical in the marksdisaverall appearancand the type of product in

question. The average consumer of the products would not be able to tell the differerea betw

10



the products manufactured by Plaintiff and the counterfeit versions sold by deferfelaally,
the weight given to the first faar in cases of competing produtiss the scales in favor of
Plaintiff.
Plaintiff has presented evidenitat it owns the marks at issue and that they are valid and
legally protectable. In addition, Plaintiff has shown that Defendants’ useinfifamarks is
likely to cause confusion among consumers. Defendants amal¢nge the validity of
Plaintiff's marks nor do theglispute that the use of Plaintiff’'s markssli&ely to confuse
consumers. Thus, there is genuine issue of material fdeft to be resolved by the factfinder.

Plaintiff is entitled to judgmenéisa matter of law.

V. CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated above, Plaintiff's motion for summary judgmeRANTED.

An appropriate order shall enter today.

Dated: 10/11/12 /s/ Robert B. Kugler
ROBERT B. KUGLER
United States District Judge
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